國立交通大學

電信工程學系

博士論文

波束可掃描之波導漏波天線設計-理論分析與 天線製作量測

A Beam Adjustable Leaky-Wave Antenna Using a Moveable Dielectric Slab inside a Waveguide – Theoretical Analysis and Experimental Studies

研 究 生:蕭承麒

指導教授:黄瑞彬 博士

中華民國九十四年七月

波束可掃描之波導漏波天線設計—理論分析與天線製作量測 A Beam Adjustable Leaky-Wave Antenna Using a Moveable Dielectric Slab inside a Waveguide - Theoretical Analysis and Experimental Studies

研 究 生:蕭承麒		Student : Cherng Chyi Hsiao
指導教授:黃瑞彬	博士	Advisor : Dr. Ruey Bing Hwang



Submitted to Department of Communication Engineering College of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science National Chiao Tung University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Communication Engineering

July 2005

Hsinchu, Taiwan, Republic of China

中華民國九十四年七月

波束可掃描之波導漏波天線設計-理論分析

與天線製作量測

國 立 交 通 大 學 電信工程學系

研究生: 蕭承麒

指導教授:黃瑞彬 博士



本論文旨在以理論分析、軟體模擬、天線製作及實驗量測,來探討波束可掃描之波 導漏波天線的可行性。

爲使天線具有波束掃瞄的能力,於槽孔導波管內的縱向軸上,置放一介電板,因槽 孔導波管的橫向電場屬不均勻分布,變化該介電板置放在槽孔導波管內橫軸向的位置, 對槽孔導波管內的電磁場產生不等量的干擾,因此改變漏波之縱向傳波常數,以改變漏 波波束之主輻射角,令天線具有波束掃瞄之能力。在理論分析部分,使用"縱向諧振方 程",推導色散關係式,以計算波導傳波常數的相位常數及耗損常數。

本論文中之理論分析、軟體模擬及實驗量測所得之天線場型分布及波束之主輻射角等數據,都很接近,證明本波束可掃瞄天線之設計,確為可行。在 Ku 波段操作,天線 波束掃描之範圍,可達 23 度。

A Beam Adjustable Leaky-Wave Antenna Using a Moveable

Dielectric Slab inside a Waveguide - Theoretical Analysis and

Experimental Studies

Student: Cherng-Chyi Hsiao

Advisor: Dr. Ruey-Bing Hwang

Department of Communication Engineering

National Chiao Tung University

Abstract

ALLILLAN.

In this dissertation, we presented a beam adjustable antenna made up of a slitted waveguide and a dielectric slab. In order to steer the radiation main-beam angle, we changed the phase constant of the waveguide mode by inserting a moveable dielectric slab to perturb its field distribution. The direction of radiation main-beam can be steered dynamically by changing the position of the dielectric slab. In theoretical analysis, the dispersion relation to obtain the phase and attenuation constants, were determined by solving the transverse resonance equation. An agreement between the theoretical and experimental radiation pattern verifies the beam-steering mechanism. Up to 23° beam-steering angle can be achieved in *Ku*-band using this approach. 非常感謝我的指導教授黃瑞彬博士, 經過他的嚴密指導,終於使本論文得以呈現。 同時也要感謝彭松村教授和尉應時教授的指導。感謝王惠民和江丕揚先生的通力合作。感謝 309 電磁應用實驗室的每一位夥伴的協助。 感謝我的家人,極有耐心陪我度過這段 日子。感謝每一位曾經幫助我的人。



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT (Chinese)		i
ABSTRACT (English)		ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS		iv
LIST OF TABLES		vi
LIST OF FIGURES		vii
CHAPTER 1	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Motivation of This Research	1
1.2	Background of This Research and the Related Literature	1
CHAPTER 2	STATEMENT OF PROBLEM AND METHODS OF ANALYSIS.	4
2.1	Basic Theory of the leaky-Wave Antenna	4
2.2	Perturbation Method	5
2.3	Mathematical Analysis of the Leaky Wave Antenna	8
2.3.1	Basic Idea of the Beam Steering Scheme	8
2.3.2	Basic Idea and Analysis Model	9
2.3.3	Eigen-Modes in Closed Waveguide	9
2.3.4	Transmission Line Network Representation	11
2.3.5	Transverse Resonance Equation	12
2.3.6	Far Field Radiation Pattern	12
2.3.7	The Radiation Far Field of the Antenna	14

CHAPTER 3	Fabrication, Measurement Setup, and Comparison	
	between Experimental and Theoretical Results	24
3.1	Fabrication of this Antenna and the Measurement Setup	24
3.2	Measurement Setup	24
3.3	Comparison Between Experimental and Theoretical Results	25
CHAPTER 4	Applications	67
4.1	Possible Application of the Fabricated Antenna	67
CHAPTER 5	Concluding Remarks	72
APPENDIX I		73
REFERENCES		77
PERSONAL INFORMATION (CHINESE)		81
PUBLICATION LIST		82

List of Figures

1.	Figure 1. The leaky wave above a partially open waveguide (16)
2.	Figure 2. A beam steering antenna for the B-29 airborne radar implemented in WWII
	by perturbation of the waveguide sidewall(17)
3.	Figure3(a). Structural parameters and the coordinate systems of the leaky waveguide
	antenna(18)
4.	Figure3(b). A slitted waveguide with bottom plate removed (19)
5.	Figure3(c). A slitted waveguide with bottom plate removed and with input and output
	flanges(19)
6.	Figure3(d). A slitted waveguide with bottom plate removed and with coaxial to
	waveguide terminations at input port and output port
7.	Figure3(e). A slitted waveguide together with a metal block which has a additional
	dielectric slab on top of it(20)
8.	Figure3(f). A well refurbished beam steering antenna(21)
9.	Figure3(g). Front view of the leaky wave antenna(22)
10.	Figure3(h). Equivalent transmission line network of the leaky wave
	antenna(22)
11.	Figure 4(a). Original electromagnetic fields with sources enclosed by a closed surface
	S(23)
12.	Figure4(b). Equivalent sources on S to produce equivalent electromagnetic
	fiels(23)
13.	Figure 5. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift
	distance for case 1 dielectric slab inside the leaky waveguide(31)
14.	Figure6. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift
	distance for case 2 dielectric slab inside the leaky waveguide(32)
15.	Figure7. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift
	distance for case 3 dielectric slab inside the leaky waveguide(33)
16.	Figure8. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift
	distance for case 1, case 2 and case 3 dielectric slab inside the leaky
	waveguide(34)
17.	Figure 9. Relationships of normalized slit lengths a function of percentage of radiation
	power, the slit widths are 1, 1.5, and 2mm. The dielectric slab is case 2 and being
	placed at t h=4 mm(35)
18.	Figure 10. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of case 1 dielectric
	slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively,
	while shift distance h=0mm(36)
19.	Figure 11. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of case 1 dielectric

slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=1mm......(37)

- 23. Figure15. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of case 1 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=5mm......(41)

- 44. Figure 36. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns using case 3

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Motivation of This Research

Recently, the demands of integrated data packets over RF carriers are increasing rapidly. As the number of users in a given wireless-communication systems increases, the service quality of the system becomes more and more stringent. To warranty a reliable communication over a radio channel, the system should overcome interferences like multi-path fading. By using the beam-steering technology as the smart antenna achieves in wireless communication, it is possible to enlarge system coverage, to achieve interference mitigation, and to improve signal to noise ratio. The beam steering techniques thus have recently received increasing interest to improve the performance of a wireless radio system.

It has been shown how smart antennas, with spatial processing, can provide substantially additional improvement when used with CDMA digital-communication systems [1]. Perhaps the most important feature of a beam steering antenna system is its capability to remove co-channel interference. Co-channel interference is the radiation from cells that use the same set of channel frequencies in the system. Thus, co-channel interferences in the transmitting mode can be reduced by focusing a directive beam in the direction of a desired user and nullifying in the directions of the other users. In receiving mode, co-channel interference can be reduced by pointing antenna to the directional location of the signal source. There are also many applications in military or space area that require fast beam steering capability for the tracking in the direction of an incoming signal.

It is based on these reasons to develop a simple, low-cost, reliable, and easy to operate beam steering antenna without using the conventional expensive ferrite or solid-state phase shifters for the applicable needs of wireless application.

1.2 Background of This Research and the Related Literature

Ever since the first invention of the first directional antenna, a lot of techniques have been developed to steer the antenna main beam. Gimbaled type antenna system was developed in the beginning to direct the antenna main beam with fixed pattern to a desired direction. The

advance of the antenna in a radar system was detailedly recorded in [2]. Those mechanical scanning radar systems are inherently characterized by consuming considerable dynamic response time, and may not be acceptable for some systems, which require specifically fast reaction time.

Electronic beam steering has been developed for a long time by using a phased array antenna through shifting the phase in each array element [3-8]. The electronic beam-steering system possesses a fast switching rate; however, the mechanical type has a consistent radiation beam pattern during the beam scanning [9-10]. Electronic beam steering needs, generally, expensive ferrite or solid-state phase shifters or a complex beam-forming network. Therefore, such a system is not cost-effective and is mainly applied in military or space-borne systems. Nowadays, because of the demands for beam-steering antenna system in wireless communication system and ITS (Intelligent Transportation System) applications, a low-cost and robust beam-steering system attracts considerable attentions.

Various novel beam-steering techniques have been proposed in the past. To mention a few, an actuator perturbing the propagation constant of a microstrip line was used as a phase shifter [11-13]. A moveable grating was used to perform a beam-steering leaky wave antenna [14]. They also used the moveable metal plate to perturb the dielectric image line and then to change the phase constant of the transmission line [15-17]. The grating with PIN diodes or MEMS-based switch was utilized to switch the direction of radiation main beam between two angles [18-20]. A re-configurable photonic band-gap structure was employed to serve as a phase shifter in a phased array system [21]. A slotted-microstrip line perturbed by metal strips was developed to act as a multi-functional device including the phase shifter and feeding network [22]. Some researchers used the photo-induced semiconductor plasma layer as a re-configurable grating antenna to dynamically change the phase constant and then scan the beam pattern [23].

Waveguide-based leaky-wave antennas have been developed for many years. For example, the slits on the metal waveguide sidewall were implemented theoretically and experimentally [24-31]. The slitted leaky waveguide array for mobile reception of DBS (direct broadcast from satellite) were successfully designed and implemented by Ando [32-35]. This paper theoretically and experimentally demonstrates the feasibility of a novel low-cost beam-steering antenna based on a leaky-wave structure. The structure under consideration is a rectangular waveguide cut with a slit in the center of the waveguide narrow wall. The theoretical formulation was well developed by using model transmission line method [28-30].

To add the beam-steering capability to the leaky-wave antenna, we added a dielectric slab longitudinally inside the slitted waveguide. Moving the dielectric slab along the transverse direction, the electric and magnetic fields in the waveguide are perturbed. Consequently, the propagation constant, including the phase and attenuation constants of the leaky mode, varies accordingly. Furthermore, the leaky-wave beam patterns could be changed.

In the theoretical analysis, we model the structure as a slitted waveguide filled with inhomogeneous medium. The transverse resonance equation was employed to calculate the dispersion relation of the waveguide. The finite integration method (FIT), CSTTM Microwave Studio, was also used to compute the radiation pattern. Besides, we fabricated an antenna and measured its far-field radiation pattern under various perturbation conditions (displacement of the dielectric slab away from the waveguide center). Three samples of dielectric slabs were used to examine the beam-steering characteristics. Good agreement between theoretical and experimental results verifies the present beam steering mechanism.



CHAPTER 2. STATEMENT OF PROBLEM AND METHODS OF ANALYSIS

2.1 Basic Theory of the Leaky-Wave Antenna

Radiation from a continuous uniform slitted waveguide has been known as a traveling wave with a complex propagation constant $(k_z = \beta_z - j\alpha_z)$. This traveling wave propagates along the waveguide with its phase velocity greater than that of light, and its amplitude being continuously attenuated as it travels. Thus, the waves feature having continuous leakage of energy and is known as leaky waves. In figure 1, a leaky wave above a partially open waveguide together with its coordinate system is given here to demonstrate the leaky wave phenomenon [36-37]. Let the wave-number in the x, y, and z directions be k_x , k_y and k_z , respectively. And assuming the system is y-axis independent, that is k_y is zero, such that

$$k_{z} = \beta_{z} - j\alpha_{z}$$

$$k_{x} = \beta_{x} - j\alpha_{x}$$
(1a)
(1b)

Let the free space wave number be k_0 , then

$$k_{0}^{2} = k_{x}^{2} + k_{z}^{2} = (\beta_{x} - j\alpha_{x})^{2} + (\beta_{z} - j\alpha_{z})^{2}$$

= $(\beta_{x}^{2} - \alpha_{x}^{2} + \beta_{z}^{2} - \alpha_{z}^{2}) - 2j(\beta_{x}\alpha_{x} + \beta_{z}\alpha_{z})$ (2)

The imaginary part of the above term must vanish, so

$$\beta_x \alpha_x + \beta_z \alpha_z = 0$$

$$\beta_x \alpha_x = -\beta_z \alpha_z$$
(3)

 β_z , α_z and β_x are all positive and real for a traveling leaky wave, we have negative α_x . In the region *x*>0, the leaky structure radiates with wave amplitude variation given as,

$$e^{-\alpha_x x} \cdot e^{-j\beta_x x} \tag{4}$$

This corresponds to an exponentially increasing of wave amplitude in the *x* direction. Though it may seem unphysical, it does represent the field solution in the restricted region of an open waveguide. Again in figure 1, the semi-infinite uniform leaky waveguide is fed by a closed waveguide. The radiation slot of the leaky structure lies in the x=0 plane. It starts radiation at z=0 and the field may extend in the positive *z* direction. That is, the leaky wave ever increases its amplitude as it propagates in the x direction. Despite the improper transverse characteristics, leaky wave can validly represent the radiation field within a sector of space, that is, the portion of space lined in figure 1. And they can never reach infinity unless the source is placed infinitely far away, which means the feeding waveguide is infinitely far away (this is the case not physically realizable). To show the confined region where the leaky wave validates the representation of the radiation fields, let θ be the angle of radiation departed from broadside, and $\phi = \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta$ be the angle departed from end-fire of the leaky wave antenna, given as,

$$\theta = \sin^{-1} \frac{\lambda}{\lambda_g} \tag{5a}$$

$$\theta = \sin^{-1} \frac{\beta_z}{k_0} \tag{5b}$$

or

 $\phi = \cos^{-1} \frac{\beta_z}{k_0}$ (5c) where $\lambda_g = \frac{2\pi}{\beta_z}$ is the guide wavelength of the leaky wave in the *z* direction, k_0 and

the free space wave-number and wavelength, respectively. Since the amplitude of the leaky wave decays as the wave propagates along the z direction, the amount of radiation per unit length decreases with increasing z. Note that at any point z>0, the field intensity increases along the x direction up to $x = z \cdot \tan \phi$. In this region, the field amplitude depends on x as given in equation 4. For $x > z \cdot \tan \phi$ the field intensity must decrease drastically in this region. So, confined in the region $x < z \cdot \tan \phi$, the leaky wave has finite amplitude and is a valid representation of the radiation field.

 λ are

2.2 Perturbation Method

 \mathbf{I} t is known that the electromagnetic field problems can be expressed in integral integration form or in differential equation form. While the differential equation form gives an exact solution of the electromagnetic problem, on the contrast, the integral equation form is especially useful for obtaining approximate solution. Owing to the above characteristics, the integral equation can be employed in perturbation method for approximate solutions of propagation constant of the specified waveguide systems.

To "perturb" means to change the status of a system slightly. The perturbation method is useful to calculate the changes of a physical quantity due to a small change in the system. There are two circumstances involved in the analysis of a perturbation system. First is the "unperturbed" one, which is with known solution of certain parameters. Then is the "perturbed" one, which is perturbed slightly from the "unperturbed" one in the system. Considering two types of perturbations in a cylindrical waveguide, or a waveguide has identical cross section. One type is on the perturbation of the width of the waveguide wall, and the other type is on the addition of a dielectric material inside the waveguide. The following perturbation formulae for the change in propagation constant in the loss-free waveguide are derived in the Harrington's textbook [38], however we re-write, use the results, and modify the results to show the physical insight of the two kinds of perturbations mentioned above for beam steering. In the first case the perturbation is on the constituent material inside the waveguide, the change of phase constant from unperturbed value β_0 to β due to perturbation is given as:

$$\beta - \beta_0 = \omega \frac{\iint_s \left(\Delta \varepsilon \underline{e} \cdot \underline{e_0}^* + \Delta \mu \underline{e} \times \underline{h_0}^* \right) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}{\iint_s \left(\underline{e_0}^* \times \underline{h} + \underline{e} \times \underline{h_0}^* \right) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}$$
(6)

And, in the case of a waveguide wall perturbation, the change of phase constant from unperturbed value β_0 to β due to perturbation is given as:

$$\beta - \beta_0 = -j \frac{\oint_{\Delta C} \left(\underline{e_0} \times \underline{h}\right) \cdot \underline{n} dl}{\iint_{S'} \left(\underline{e_0^*} \times \underline{h} + \underline{e} \times \underline{h_0^*}\right) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}$$
(7)

In the case of shallow, smooth deformation of the waveguide wall, e and h can be approximated by e_0 and h_0 , respectively. So, equations (6) and (7) can be approximated by

$$\beta - \beta_0 \approx \omega \frac{\iint_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\Delta \varepsilon |\underline{e_0}|^2 + \Delta \mu |\underline{h_0}|^2 \right) ds}{\iint_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\underline{e_0}^* \times \underline{h_0} + \underline{e_0} \times \underline{h_0}^* \right) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}$$
(8a)

and

$$\beta - \beta_0 \approx \omega \frac{\iint_{\Delta S} \left(\mu |h_0|^2 - \varepsilon |e_0|^2 \right) ds}{\iint_{S'} \left(\underline{e}_0^* \times \underline{h} + \underline{e} \times \underline{h}_0^* \right) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}$$
(8b)

An example demonstrates waveguide perturbation is shown in figure 2. It shows a slitted waveguide beam steering antenna. The idea of this beam steering mechanism is to change the longitudinal field propagation constant by changing the waveguide width, that is, by

deforming the waveguide sidewall longitudinally. Concerning the dominant TE_{10} mode, the operating region where the transverse fields are perturbed is with weak electric field strength but strong magnetic field strength. In this case equation (8b) can be reduced to

$$\beta - \beta_0 \approx \omega \frac{\iint_{\Delta S} \mu |h_0|^2 ds}{\iint_{S'} (\underline{e}_0^* \times \underline{h} + \underline{e} \times \underline{h}_0^*) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}$$
(9)

Change of the propagation constant is approximately proportional to the magnetic field energy stored in the deformed region of the waveguide transverse plane, where magnetic field is of the strongest strength. The slitted waveguide antenna steers its main beam by changing its width of waveguide wall. Assuming that the perturbation is shallow and slight, and the magnetic field strength can similarly as above assumed to be approximately constant over the region of waveguide deformation. Then equation (9) can be further reduced to

$$\beta - \beta_0 \approx \left(\omega \frac{\mu |h_t|^2 a}{\iint_{S'} \left(\underline{e}_0^* \times \underline{h} + \underline{e} \times \underline{h}_0^*\right) \cdot \underline{z}_0 ds}\right) \cdot \Delta b \tag{10}$$

Where *a* is the height of the waveguide, Δb represents the deformed width of the waveguide, and h_t is the magnetic field strength in the deformed waveguide region. Note that the change in propagation constant depends nearly linearly on the deformation width in the waveguide. This technique has been realized and demonstrated successfully during WWII on the air-borne beam steering radar developed for the aircraft *B-29* bomber [2].

The other case of inserting a thin dielectric slab in the waveguide with moderately low relative dielectric constant as shown in figure 3(a), that is we have slight dielectric perturbation. Then equation (8a) becomes

$$\beta - \beta_0 \approx \omega \frac{\iint_s \Delta \varepsilon |\underline{e_0}|^2 ds}{\iint_s (\underline{e_0}^* \times \underline{h_0} + \underline{e_0} \times \underline{h_0}^*) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}$$
(11)

It is obvious that maximum change in propagation constant exists when the dielectric slab is inserted in the area where the electric field is of maximum magnitude. This is certainly the case that we put the dielectric slab around the central region of the waveguide, for TE_{10} mode field under consideration. In this case, the antenna radiation main beam may experience the largest angle shifting. If the dielectric slab is thin enough, it is reasonable to assume that the electric field is almost concentrated and being almost constant within the volume of dielectric slab, then equation (19) can be further approximated to

$$\beta - \beta_0 \approx \omega \frac{(\Delta \varepsilon \cdot t)a|\underline{e_t}|^2}{\iint_{\mathcal{S}} (\underline{e_0^*} \times \underline{h_0} + \underline{e_0} \times \underline{h_0^*}) \cdot \underline{z_0} ds}$$
(12)

Where *a* is the height of the waveguide, and *t* is the thickness of the dielectric slab and e_t is the electric field strength in the dielectric slab. It shows that the change of the propagation constant can be approximately proportional to the value of $(\Delta \varepsilon \cdot t)$, as long as the perturbation is shallow and smooth, that is, assuming product term $(\Delta \varepsilon \cdot t)$ is small. That means a smaller angle scan in the antenna maim-beam results when we put a thinner dielectric slab inside the waveguide. Similarly, when we put the dielectric slab closer to the waveguide sidewall, where the electric field is relatively weak in comparison with the other position, smaller angle scan in the antenna maim-beam is derived. By using the variational principles for electromagnetic resonators and waveguide, the variation of propagation constants (between exact and approximate results) vs. frequency for dielectric slab of various widths in a rectangular waveguide could be found in [39].

2.3. Mathematical Analysis of the Leaky Wave Antenna

2.3.1 Basic Idea of the Beam Steering Scheme

Before the mathematical analysis for the propagation constant in such a non-homogeneous leaky waveguide we fabricated in this thesis, it is show here its physical mechanism for beam steering. It is known that, when a homogeneous waveguide (without slot and dielectric slab) is operated in the presence of dominant mode (TE_{10}) only, the field strength merely depends on *x*, which can be written as:

440000

$$E_{y}(x,z) = E_{o} \sin \frac{\pi x}{a} \exp(-j\kappa z)$$
(13)

From equation (13), we know that the field strength is non-uniform in x direction. When we place a dielectric slab perpendicular to x-axis and move this dielectric slab, the field distribution inside the waveguide will vary accordingly. This leads to a change in the propagation constant of the dominant mode of the waveguide. Thus we know that the placement of an additional dielectric slab will perturb and re-configure the field distribution within the waveguide, since the electromagnetic field tends to be more concentrated on the

region having higher dielectric constant. The variation of the propagation constant κ versus the position of the slab will be demonstrated by numerical analysis and the feasibility of this conceptual design of the leaky-wave antenna will be confirmed later. Due to the change of the propagation constant, the antenna will steer its main beam toward a certain direction. This is the basic idea of beam steering.

2.3.2 Basic Idea and Analysis Model

A rigorous mathematical formulation of such a class of leaky wave antenna can be traced back to 1959 proposed by Goldstone and Oliner [26]. They had derived the transmission line network representation, including the lumped circuit model of the slit for treating the problem of continuous spectrum, and had employed the transverse resonance equation to solve the propagation constant which contains the phase and attenuation constant. In this paper, to steer the radiation main beam of the antenna, we have placed a moveable dielectric slab inside the leaky-wave antenna as shown in figure 4(a) and numerically compute the variation of the propagation constant versus the position of the dielectric slab. When the propagation constant is determined, the radiation far field pattern can be calculated by using the equivalence principle, and then the problem can be solved.

2.3.3 Eigen-Modes in Closed Waveguide

As for the theoretical formulation, we assume that the slit is uniform along z direction, thus we can separate the fields inside the waveguide into two types of eigen-modes: $E_z = 0$ (H_z mode) and $H_z = 0$ (E_z mode), to avoid treating the coupling problem due to an improper choice of eigen-modes [28]. As these two types of modes are designated, the tangential electric and magnetic field components can be written as follows:

$$E_{y}^{(i)}(x,z) = \sum_{n} v_{n}^{(i)}(x)\phi_{n}(y)\exp(-j\kappa z)$$
(14)

$$H_{z}^{(i)}(x,z) = \sum_{n} i_{n}^{(i)}(x)\phi_{n}(y)\exp(-j\kappa z)$$
(15)

for $TE(H_z)$ mode, and

$$H_{y}^{(i)}(x,z) = \sum_{n} i_{n}^{(i)}(x)\phi_{n}(y)\exp(-j\kappa z)$$
(16)

$$E_{z}^{(i)}(x,z) = \sum_{n} v_{n}^{(i)}(x)\phi_{n}(y)\exp(-j\kappa z)$$
(17)

for $TM(E_z)$ mode,

where the eigen-function of the parallel-plate waveguide for *TE* and *TM* modes are given as follows:

$$\phi_{n}(y) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{\frac{2}{b}} \sin \frac{n2\pi y}{b}, n = 1, 2, 3, \dots \text{ for } H_{z} \mod e \\ \sqrt{\frac{\xi_{n}}{b}} \cos \frac{n2\pi y}{b}, n = 0, 1, 2, 3, \dots \text{ for } E_{z} \mod e \end{cases}$$
(18)

where $\xi_n = 1$ for n = 0 and $\xi_n = 2$ for *n* is not equal to zero. The superscript *i* denoted the region in the waveguide. As shown in figure 3(a), inside the leaky-wave waveguide, we partition it into three sub-regions; region '*r*' and '*l*' in the right- and left- hand side regions, whereas the central region is filled with dielectric slab and is designated as '*d*', which the relative dielectric constant is ε_s and the thickness is *t*. The voltage and current wave satisfy the transmission line equations (the detailed derivations are shown in the Appendix I), which are given as follows:

$$\frac{dv_n^{(i)}(x)}{dx} = -jk_{xn}^{(i)}Z_n^{(i)}i_n^{(i)}(x)$$
(19)

$$\frac{di_n^{(i)}(x)}{dx} = -jk_{xn}^{(i)}Y_n^{(i)}v_n^{(i)}(x)$$
(20)

Where $k_{xn}^{(i)}$ is the propagation constant along x direction and $Z_n^{(i)}(Y_n^{(i)})$ are the corresponding characteristic impedance (admittance). They can be determined by the following equations:

$$k_{xn}^{(i)} = \sqrt{k_o^2 \varepsilon_i - \left(\frac{n\pi}{b}\right)^2 - \kappa^2}$$
(21)

$$Z_{n}^{(i)} = \begin{cases} \frac{\omega\mu_{o}k_{xn}^{(i)}}{k_{o}^{2}\varepsilon_{i} - \kappa^{2}}; H_{z} \text{ mode} \\ \frac{k_{o}^{2}\varepsilon_{i} - \kappa^{2}}{\omega\varepsilon_{o}\varepsilon_{i}k_{xn}^{(i)}}; E_{z} \text{ mode} \end{cases}$$
(22)

, and ε_i is the relative dielectric constant in each region. Note that the propagation constant along *z* direction κ must remain the same in each region. In general, it is a complex

number for a leaky-wave waveguide and is to be determined in the following section of analysis.

2.3.4 Transmission Line Network Representation

By the electromagnetic boundary conditions, the tangential electric and magnetic field components are continuous at the interfaces between air and dielectric slab, those are the interface planes at $x = \left(-h - \frac{a-t}{2}\right)$ and $x = \left(-h - \frac{a+t}{2}\right)$, as given in figure 3(g). In

view of this, it is convenient to cascade these three sections of finite-length transmissions lines, as mentioned in the above section, to form a transmission line network. As for the terminations of the transmission line network, we can apply the electromagnetic boundary conditions to determine the terminations of the transmission line network. Moreover, one must make some efforts to treat the discontinuity problem, in particular for the case of waveguide opening immediate to a half space.

We look at the left-hand side of the waveguide first. Based on the electromagnetic boundary condition, the tangential electric field vanishes on the surface of PEC (perfect electric conductor) wall (x = -a). Since the tangential electric field is related to the voltage wave of the transmission line, as depicted in equation (14), it means that the voltage at the left-hand side must be zero, that is, v(-a) = 0, this shows a short-circuit termination at x = -a.

On the other hand, at the right hand side, the slit is an immediate opening to the half space. It is a problem of continuous spectra rather than the discrete modes in a closed waveguide. By the approximation formulation in Waveguide Handbook [27], we could obtain the lumped circuit elements, which contain a conductance (G) and a susceptance (B) to model the radiation and storage energy, respectively, in the vicinity of the slit discontinuity. The detailed mathematical derivation can be referred to [27] (Waveguide Handbook). With the equivalent lumped circuit at the right-hand side and shorted circuit at the left-hand side, one can obtain a complete transmission line network, where the values of conductance G and susceptance B can be referred to [26-27] and given as:

$$\frac{G}{Y_o} = G' = \frac{\pi b}{2a} \tag{23a}$$

$$\frac{B}{Y_o} = B' = \frac{b}{a} \ln(\csc\frac{\pi d}{2b}) + \frac{b}{a} \ln\frac{ae}{\gamma d}$$
(23b)

, where e = 2.718 and $\gamma = 1.781$.

2.3.5 Transverse Resonance Equation

With the transmission line network representation shown in the above section, the complete network can be drawn in figure 3(h). Because the wave is propagating along a uniform waveguide along the *z*-direction, we are able to apply the resonance condition in the transverse plane, which is the vanishing sum of input impedances seen when looking into left and right of this reference plane (x=-c, where *c* is smaller than the waveguide width *a*). This transverse resonance equation defines the dispersion relation of the waveguide. The reference plane to perform the resonance condition can be chosen at any position within the network. However, according to our experience, to obtain an accurate dispersion root, one could choose the transverse resonance reference plane at the plane where the field strength is relatively strong. Here, both the input impedance seen when looking into left or right are functions of propagation constant κ , and the dispersion relation can be expressed as,

$$\vec{Z}(\kappa) + \vec{Z}(\kappa) = 0$$
 (24)

, the symbol $\overleftarrow{Z}(\kappa)$ and $\overrightarrow{Z}(\kappa)$ represent the wave impedance seen when looking into left and right, respectively, from some arbitrary reference plane. If we choose the reference plane as $x = -\left(h + \frac{a+t}{2}\right)$, then the input impedance of a section of short-circuited transmission line with length $\left(\frac{a}{2} - h - \frac{t}{2}\right)$ is given as:

$$\dot{\overline{Z}}(\kappa_z) = j Z_0^{(l)} \tan\left\{k_x^{(l)}(\frac{a}{2} - h - \frac{t}{2})\right\}$$
(25)

, where

$$Z_0^{(l)} = \frac{\omega \mu_0}{k_x^{(l)}}$$

, and

$$k_x^{(l)} = \sqrt{k_0^2 - k_z^2}$$

 $Z_o^{(l)}$ and $k_x^{(l)}$ represent the characteristic wave impedances and the wave propagation constants along *x* direction. As for the wave impedance seen when looking to the right of the reference plane

$$\vec{Z}(\kappa) = Z_0^{(r)} \frac{1+\Gamma}{1-\Gamma}$$
(26)

, where

$$\Gamma = \left(\frac{Z_L - Z_0^{(r)}}{Z_L + Z_0^{(r)}}\right) \exp\left\{-j2k_x^{(r)}\left(\frac{a}{2} - \frac{t}{2} + h\right)\right\}$$
(27)

, and the conductance G and the susceptance B have been given in equation (23)

$$Z_L = \left(G + jB\right)^{-1} \tag{28}$$

$$k_x^{(l)} = k_x^{(r)} = \sqrt{k_0^2 - k_z^2}$$
(29)

$$Z_0^{(r)} = \frac{\omega\mu_o}{k_x^{(r)}}$$

Thus, the analytical dispersion relation is derived for solving $k_z = \beta_z - j\alpha_z$ by substituting equations (25)-(29) into equation (24). To obtain the dispersion roots in equation (24), we will use the conventional root-searching algorithm such as Newton's method. To accelerate the root-searching process, the analytical solution of the leaky-wave waveguide free of dielectric slab, which is listed in [26], can be used as an initial point for further iteration process. The propagation constant κ_z in general is a complex number. Imaginary part of κ_z represents the attenuation of wave propagating along the longitudinal direction of the waveguide and characterizes the power leakage from the slit into the open half plane. This shows the basic physical mechanism of the leaky-wave waveguide antenna.

2.3.6 Far Field Radiation Pattern

 T_{o} compare the theoretical and the experimental results, we have to calculate the radiation pattern of the leaky waveguide antenna with the propagation constant which has been already found from the above derivations. Assuming that the antenna slit width is relatively small compared with the waveguide height. This makes the electric field across the antenna slit uniform in the y-direction, and propagates in the z-direction with its amplitude proportional to

 $exp(-j\beta_z z)exp(-\alpha_z z)$. With the field distribution known inside the cavity, it is thus convenient to use the equivalence principle to find the far field radiation pattern of the antenna concerned.

The equivalence principle states that two sets of sources producing the same field within a region of space are said to be *equivalent within that region*. If we are interested in the fields in a specific region, we are free to choose an equivalent set of source such that they produce the same field distribution within that region. Actual information about the original sources is not really required, equivalent sources will serve as well [38]. The equivalence principle is shown in figure 4(a) and figure 4(b). Figure 4(a) represents the sources internal to a closed surface *S* and free space external to *S*, *E* and *H* are the original electromagnetic fields all over the space. To find an equivalent source to produce equivalent electromagnetic fields outside the specific surface, it is allowed to choose the fields exist outside surface *S* the original field, and the field inside *S* the null field. To support this field, electric and magnetic surface currents, J_s and M_s , must exist on S according to

$$\mathbf{J}_{s} = \hat{n} \times \mathbf{H}$$
(30)
$$\mathbf{M}_{s} = \mathbf{E} \times \hat{n}$$
(31)

, where \hat{n} is the unit vector directed outward of surface *S*, and *E* and *H* are the original fields over *S*. Since the currents are acting into the unbounded free space, we are thus able to determine the fields from the electric vector potential <u>*F*</u> for an equivalent magnetic source, and the magnetic vector potential <u>*A*</u> for an equivalent electric source, they can be represented as

$$\underline{F} = \frac{1}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \int_{s'} \frac{e^{-jk_o|\underline{r}-\underline{r'}|}}{|\underline{r}-\underline{r'}|} \underline{M}_s(\underline{r'}) ds'$$
(32)

$$\underline{A} = \frac{\mu_o}{4\pi} \int_{s'} \frac{e^{-jk_o|\underline{r}-\underline{r'}|}}{|\underline{r}-\underline{r'}|} J_{\underline{s}}(\underline{r'}) ds'$$
(33)

where \underline{r} is the observation position vector and $\underline{r'}$ is the source position vector that is located within *S*.

2.3.7. The Radiation Far Field of the Antenna

After the propagation constant $(k_z = \beta_z \cdot j \alpha_z)$ is determined by solving the dispersion root with the transverse resonance equation, we are now in a position to realize the radiation characteristics of this leaky-wave antenna. First, we roughly estimate the angle of radiation main beam. It can be approximated and re-state equation (5) here:

$$\theta \approx \sin^{-1} \frac{\beta}{k_o} \tag{34}$$

In addition to the radiation angle of the main beam, we can also calculate the radiation pattern by the equivalent sources in front of the shorted circuit of slot. From the equivalence principle, the equivalent electric- and magnetic- currents \underline{J}_s and \underline{M}_s over the slot can be expressed as equations (30) and (31), where \hat{n} is the unit vector in the direction normal to the surface of the slot, \underline{E} and \underline{H} are the electric and magnetic field on the slot. Assuming the presence of a baffle, which is an infinitely extended PEC plane, the equivalent electric current in front of this PEC plate will not radiate at all. As a result, the radiation pattern is only from the equivalent magnetic current, and is proportional the integration that is given as follows:

$$\varphi \approx \int_{L} \frac{\exp(-jk_o |\underline{r} - \underline{r'}|)}{|\underline{r} - \underline{r'}|} M_s(z') w dz'$$
(35)

, <u>r</u> is the observation position vector, and <u>r'</u> is the source position vector which is located at the z axis. And w is the width of the antenna slit, and L is the antenna slit length. We assume the field strength is uniform along the width direction of the slit. Since the magnitude of the magnetic current is proportional to $exp(-j\beta_z z)exp(-\alpha_z z)$, it can be characterized as a traveling wave antenna. The parameter αL plays an important role in determining the amount of power leakage from this waveguide.



Figure 1. The leaky wave above a partially open waveguide.



Figure 2. A beam steering leaky-wave antenna for the airborne radar of B-29 bomber implemented in WWII by perturbation to the waveguide sidewall.



Figure 3(a). Structural parameters and the coordinate systems of the leaky waveguide antenna.



Figure 3(b) A slitted waveguide with bottom plate removed.



Figure 3(c) A slitted waveguide with bottom plate removed, then adding the flanges at input and terminated port.



Figure 3(d) A slitted waveguide with input and output ports.



Figure 3(e) A slitted terminated waveguide and the placed dielectric slab on top of the metal block.



Figure 3(f) A beam steering slitted waveguide leaky-wave antenna



Figure 3: (g) Front view of the leaky wave antenna (h) Equivalent transmission line network of the leaky wave antenna



Figure 4 (a) Original electromagnetic fields with sources enclosed by a closed surface S.



Figure 4(b) Equivalent sources on S to produce equivalent electromagnetic fiels.

CHAPTER3. FABRICATION, MEASUREMENT SETUP, AND COMPARISON BETWEEN EXPERIMENTAL AND THEORETICAL RESULTS

3.1 Fabrication of this Antenna and the Measurement Setup

The proposed beam steering leaky wave antenna consists of a slitted waveguide, a moveable dielectric slab, a feed flange and a termination flange has been already shown in figure 3(a). The slitted waveguide is a Ku-band rectangular waveguide with two slits on the narrow walls of the rectangular waveguide. The slit used for the leakage of electromagnetic energy is located at the center of the narrow sidewall, at x = 0, with 1.5mm in width, and 125mm in length. Contrary to the slit for radiating the electromagnetic energy, a slit is cut in the opposite narrow sidewall of the antenna slit for moving a dielectric slab. To reduce the extra power leakage from this slit, the slit width is cut as narrow as possible. This slit is 125mm in length and 0.1mm in thickness (y=0 to 0.1 mm). A dielectric slab linearly tapered (triangular tapering with 2cm height) at both ends is mounted longitudinally on top of a thin (0.1mm thickness) rectangular (125mm length, 50mm width) plastic sheet. This sheet affects negligibly the electromagnetic field inside the waveguide. Moving this plastic sheet outside the waveguide moves the dielectric slab inside the waveguide also. This mechanism makes it possible to change the propagation constant of the dominated mode in the waveguide. Thus, the radiation angle of antenna main beam can be steered to a desired direction. Another version of mechanical setup to move the dielectric slab conveniently is to put the dielectric slab on a stationary metal block, then move the slitted waveguide (with the bottom wide plate removed also) on top of this metal block. This version of fabrication process is further demonstrated by the photographs shown from figure 3(b) to figure 3 (f). Figure 3(b) shows the slitted waveguide with its bottom plate removed, and figure 3(c) shows the flanges to add the above slitted waveguide. Figure 3(d) is already with the input port and the output port, where figure 3(e) is with an additional dielectric slab on top of the sliding metal block. Figure 3(f) is the overall beam steering antenna with the sliding metal blocks attached.

3.2 Measurement Setup

As for the experimental setup, there is a PC-based controller with a built-in data acquisition board, a vector network analyzer (VNA), a two-stage cascaded *Ku*-band amplifier, an

anechoic chamber equipped with a turntable and a receiving horn antenna. Test frequency is selected at $15 GH_z$, though this antenna can be scaled to any desired operation frequencies with a careful re-design.

In conducting experiment, the PC-based controller drives the turntable, initializes VNA, and records the measured data. Amplifiers after VNA port1 amplify the received signal to compensate system loss due to system loss, including cable and path losses. The amplified output is coupled to the antenna mounted on the turntable in the chamber. Step-motor of the turntable is with an angle resolution of 0.9 degrees. Angular error due to alignment should be controlled much smaller than 0.9 degrees. At the time the antenna is radiating and rotating on the turntable, the receiving horn antenna in the chamber delivers the received RF signal to port 2 of the VNA, where the received signal strength is measured. The acquisition board collects the data of received power versus the angular position of the turntable. A post data processor in the controller is used to plot the antenna pattern.

Far field radiation pattern should be measured in the quiet zone of the chamber with a distance greater than that of Fresnel zone $(2D^2/\lambda)$, where *D* is the maximum length of the antenna under test. That corresponds to *156cm* in the test requirement for the desired test antenna. However, at the time we tested the antenna pattern, we were constrained to do measurement in a chamber with limited Fresnel zone distance of *140cm*. The antenna patterns of various perturbation conditions (a combination of variant dielectric constant, dielectric slab width, and position) are measured to verify the beam steering capability of the designed antenna in this thesis.

We have also developed a chamber calibration procedure by applying the Friis's transmission formula and the Purcell's method for antenna gain measurement. Before conducting the antenna gain test, we are thus able to know the quietness of our chamber first. The above calibration procedure for quality control of antenna gain measurement has been shown in [40].

3.3 Comparison between experimental and theoretical results

 \mathbf{T} o demonstrate the beam-steering capability of the leaky-wave antenna, three examples described previously were employed to verify this mechanism. The structural parameters of
the antenna have been described above in the second section. The electrical length of the antenna slit is 6.25λ , where λ is the operation wavelength. To reduce the reflection from the output port, the antenna was terminated with a matched load. This could further reduce the backward wave radiation.

After solving the propagation constants to the dispersion relation in equation (24), we obtained the distribution of propagation constant ($k_z = \beta_z \cdot j\alpha_z$) versus shift distance (*h*) of the dielectric slab. These plots were shown in figure 5-7 for case1, case2, and case3, respectively. And we summarized the results of all the three cases in figure 8. As shown in the inset in these figures, the shift distance of the moveable dielectric slab is defined as the distance from the center of the waveguide to the center of the dielectric slab. To avoid directly perturb the antenna slit, the dielectric slab was placed at the position from the central waveguide to its side wall opposite to the radiation slit, i.e. from x = -0.5a to x = -a + 0.5t.

Since the electric field distribution of TE_{10} mode within the waveguide is non-uniform, the maximum field strength is around the waveguide central part and the minimum field is at the edge. If the dielectric slab was placed around the center of the waveguide (*x*=-0.5*a*), it will strongly perturb the field distribution; and result in heavily perturbing its propagation constant (compared with the case without dielectric slab). Conversely, if the dielectric slab is positioned at the edge of the waveguide, it will (*x*=-a+0.5*t*) affect the field distribution lightly. Consequently, the normalized phase constant is close to that of the homogeneous waveguide (0.6972 k_o).

In figure 5 to figure 8, the variation of normalized attenuation constant ($\alpha\lambda$) versus the shift distance (*h*) for each of the previous three samples was shown, where the wavelength λ and waveguide width *a* are 20 mm and 15.68 mm, respectively. Since the attenuation constant determines the power leakage rate of the leaky-wave antenna, it facilitates us to estimate the radiation efficiency of this antenna. The variation of the attenuation constant will reflect in the level of power leakage. The numerical results showed that the maximum variation of attenuation constant was less than 14% for the second sample case.

Another factor affecting the radiation power is the impedance match at the antenna input port. We have measured the return loss S_{11} at antenna input port for each case with various shift distances. The results showed that S_{11} was decreased as the shift distance was increased. Lower return loss occurs when the dielectric slab is located near the waveguide sidewall, where the electric field is comparatively weak. On the other hand, significant influence on the return loss was observed as the dielectric slab was moved to the center of the waveguide, since the field strength is relatively strong and being perturbed by the dielectric slab in this region. In this experiment, the measured S_{11} at 15GHz was less than -12dB as the shift distance took the values from 0mm to 7mm.

The power leakage could be estimated using $1 - e^{-2\alpha L}$, where α is the leaky constant and L is the antenna slit length. Note that, the leaky constant α depends on the slit width S of the antenna. By solving the dispersion relation in equation (24), we could obtain the phase and attenuation constant for a given slit width S. In figure 9, we calculated the function of antenna slit length (normalized to free-space wavelength) against power leakage $(1-e^{-2\alpha L})$ for the three cases with slit widths S=1mm, 1.5mm and 2mm. Note that, the dielectric slab was placed at the position with h=4mm, where the attenuation constant was of minimum value. This enables us to determine the minimum antenna length to meet a required power leakage specification. This analytical result showed that the wider the slit width the more the radiated power, which confirms the physical intuition. This figure provided us a criterion to determine the antenna slit length for a given percentage of radiation power.

To show the beam steering capability of the proposed antenna, far-field radiation pattern of the antenna at different shift distances of the dielectric slab was studied. The first dielectric slab used was the *case1* dielectric sample described in the second section. The radiation patterns were measured with *1mm* increment in shift distance. Results were taken, at eight shift distance values: *0mm* to *7mm*, as shown in figure 10 to figure 17.

The overall results in this case, both the MLTM and the experimental main beam radiation angles as functions of shift distance of the dielectric slab were summarized in figure 18. Both the angular excursion developed in this case is 9.9° according to the results.

Then, we moved to measure the far-field antenna radiation pattern at different shift distances for *case 2* dielectric slab. The radiation patterns were measured with *1mm* increment in shift distance, either. Results were taken, at eight shift distance values: from *0mm* to *7mm*, as shown in figure 19 to figure 26. We observed that the radiation angle can be continuously steered up to *23.4* degrees as the shift distance varies from *0mm* to *7mm*. The summarized results, both the Theoretical (MLTM) and the experimental main beam radiation angles as functions of shift distance of the dielectric slab, were collected in figure 27.

Figure 28 showed the antenna radiation patterns obtained by using the modal transmission line method (MTLM) and the experiment. Case2 dielectric slab was used, the relative dielectric constant and thickness (mm) of the dielectric slab are 2.55 and 1.62 respectively, and the shift distances h are 0, 4 and 7mm.

The last set of far-field radiation patterns of the antenna at different shift distances were studied using the *case 3* dielectric slab. The radiation patterns were measured with the same *Imm* increment in shift distance as the above measurements. Results were taken, at eight shift distance values: *Omm* to *7mm*, as shown in figure 29 to figure 36. In case3, the theoretical (MLTM) and the experimental main beam radiation angles as functions of shift distance of the dielectric slab, were summarized in figure 37. Theoretical angular scan as shift distance varied from *0mm* to *7mm* was 8.1°, and the experimental one was 10.3° .

For all the theoretical and experimental main beam radiation angles of the above three cases of dielectric slabs, we have summarized the results in figure 38. Note that the main beam radiation angles while shift distances are at h=7mm were close to 45° (~*sin*⁻¹0.6972), because the normalized phase constant is close to that $(0.6972 k_o)$ of the homogeneous waveguide without the dielectric slab's perturbation. Those measured radiation patterns shown in the above figures agree fairly well with those obtained by the theoretical (modal transmission line) method developed in this paper. In this radiation pattern measurement, the sweep angles ϕ were 0° to 360° in an increment of 0.9° , where the angle ϕ was counted from z-axis, as was depicted in the inset of each figure showed the radiation angle pattern. The antenna back-lobe level was 15dB below the main-lobe, so we neglect the back-lobe and only display the radiation pattern between 0° to 90° . In addition, the antenna side lobes of the radiation patterns were significant both in the measured and the theoretical results, since the antenna slit was simply rectangular without tapering. Observable difference between these side-lobe results was probably due to the imperfect environment of our anechoic chamber. However, the trend of the measured side-lobe agreed with the theoretical one. Besides, due to the limited far-field distance (1.4 meters) of the anechoic chamber, the antenna slit length operating in the frequency in this experiment was constrained. In all the above antenna pattern measurement, numerous results have been taken, all the measured radiation patterns agreed fairly well with the theoretical results.

Figure 38 showed the variation of theoretical and experimental radiation main-beam angle versus the shift distance of the three samples of dielectric slab given in the previous section.

The theoretical radiation angle was obtained by substituting the β/k_o in figure 8 into equation (34). In figure 38, it was observed that the second case has the maximum deviation in the phase constant. It caused the beam-steering angle to be up to 23.4°. In the calculation of the theoretical phase constant, it was based on the assumption that uniform slit and dielectric slab are infinitely extended. In fact, the length of the slit and dielectric slab are finite. The discontinuities at both ends of the slit introduced some parasitic effects, such as the excitation of slot mode or cross-polarization. These effects were neglected in our theoretical analysis. Besides, precise alignment of the dielectric slab in its longitudinal direction must be carefully performed to approach the ideal case. These uncertainties may explain the differences between the theoretical and the experimental results in figure 9.

In addition to the experimental verification of an antenna design, we employed a three-dimensional electromagnetic simulation package based on Finite Integration Technique (FIT), to simulate such a leaky wave antenna. In figure 39, antenna radiation pattern obtained by modal transmission line method, experimental test and Finite Integration Technique (FIT of CST Microwave Studio), using dielectric slab of case 2, and the shift distance of the dielectric slab are 0 and 7mm, respectively. We observed that when shift distance is 7mm, the angle difference of radiation main beam between the theoretical method in this paper and that of CST is 1.2° , where it is 3.7° for *Omm* shift distance. Since the equivalent source on the aperture was assumed to be uniform along the width direction in our theoretical calculation, its radiation pattern may have difference compared with the FIT method. However, from the two numerical results, we found that there was only a slight difference between those two results, which proves that the assumption of uniform electric-field distribution is reasonable. Thus both these two numerical methods can be used to approve the antenna design before its fabrication. Note that, in this case, the computation resources needed in our method is considerably less than that of the FIT method.

Figure 40 depicted the variation of antenna efficiency and antenna gain against the shift distance (*h*) of the case 2 dielectric slab. The antenna efficiency was obtained by evaluating $1 - |S_{11}^2| - |S_{21}^2|$, because that such a leaky-wave antenna could be regarded as a two-port device. Notably, the dielectric slab employed in this numerical simulation was assumed to be loss free. Therefore, the power loss for this two-port device was totally attributed to the radiation loss.

Besides, comparing figure 40 with figure 6, we found that they share the similar tendency of

variation. The smallest normalized attenuation constant occurred around h=4mm, which corresponds to the lowest antenna efficiency shown in figure 40. It was evidently to know that the larger the attenuation constant, the larger amount of power leakage from the waveguide. In addition to the antenna efficiency, we also calculated the antenna gain for the same antenna in figure 40. The variation of antenna gain against shift distance (*h*) was plotted in this figure. Observe that the antenna gain maintained a value between 12.5 dBi and 15 dBi for changing the position of the dielectric slab. This means that the antenna gain is not so sensitive to the variation of the position of dielectric slab. It also proved the reliability of the beam-steering mechanism developed in this research.





Figure 5. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift distance using case 1 dielectric slab inside the leaky waveguide.



Figure 6. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift distance for case 2 dielectric slab inside the leaky waveguide.



Figure 7. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift distance for case 3 dielectric slab inside the leaky waveguide.



Figure 8. Normalized phase constants and attenuation constants as a function of shift distance for case 1, case 2 and case 3 dielectric slab inside the leaky waveguide.







Figure 10. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=0mm.



Figure 11. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=1mm.



Figure 12. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, when shift distance h=2mm.



Figure 13. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=3mm.



Figure 14. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=4mm.



Figure 15. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=5mm.



Figure 16. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=6mm.



Figure 17. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns of *case 1* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness are 2.55 and 0.81mm respectively, while shift distance h=7mm.



Figure 18. Radiation angles of the leaky-wave antenna as the functions of the shift distances using case 1 dielectric slab. Antenna radiation angles are obtained by modal transmission line method and experimental tests.



Figure 19. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case 2* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively , while shift distance h=0mm.



Figure 20. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case 2* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively , while shift distance h=1mm.



Figure 21. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case* 2 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively , while shift distance h=2mm.



Figure 22. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case 2* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively, while shift distance h=3mm.



Figure 23. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case* 2 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively, while shift distance h=4mm.



Figure 24. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case 2* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively , while shift distance h=5mm.



Figure 25. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case 2* dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively , while shift distance h=5mm.



Figure 26. Theoretical(MTLM) and experimental antenna radiation patterns using *case* 2 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 2.55 and 1.62mm respectively , while shift distance h=7mm.



Figure 27. Radiation angles of the leaky-wave antenna as the functions of the shift distances using the case 2 dielectric slab. Antenna radiation angles were obtained by theoretical modal transmission line method and experimental tests.



Figure 28. Antenna radiation patterns obtained by using the modal transmission line method (MTLM) and the experiment. Case 2 dielectric slab was used, the relative dielectric constant and thickness (mm) of the dielectric slab are 2.55 and 1.62 respectively, and the shift distances h are 0, 4 and 7mm.











Figure 31. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns using case 3 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 3.84 and 0.38mm respectively, while shift distance h=2mm.







Figure 33. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns using case 3 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 3.84 and 0.38mm respectively, while shift distance h=4mm.



Figure 34. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns using case 3 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 3.84 and 0.38mm respectively, while shift distance h=5mm.



Figure 35. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns using case 3 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 3.84 and 0.38mm respectively, while shift distance h=6mm.


Figure 36. Theoretical (MTLM) and experimental radiation patterns using case 3 dielectric slab with relative dielectric constant and thickness 3.84 and 0.38mm respectively, while shift distance h=7mm.



Figure 37. Radiation angles of the leaky-wave antenna as the functions of the shift distances using the case 3 dielectric slab. Antenna radiation angles are obtained by theoretical modal transmission line method and experimental tests.



Figure 38. Radiation angles of the leaky-wave antenna as the functions of the shift distances using the case 1, case 2 and case 3 dielectric slab. Antenna radiation angles are obtained by theoretical modal transmission line method and experimental tests.



Figure 39. Antenna radiation pattern obtained by modal transmission line method, experimental test and Finite Integration Technique (FIT of CST Microwave Studio), using case 2 dielectric slabcase 2, and the shift distance of the dielectric slab are 0 and 7mm, respectively.



Figure 40. Antenna efficiency and gain of the leaky-wave antenna as a function of the shift distance h (*mm*) using the *case 2* dielectric slab, which has dielectric constant 2.55 and thickness 1.62 mm, respectivelty.

CHAPTER 4 POSSIBLE APPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSED ANTENNA AND FUTURE WORK

4.1 Possible Application of the Fabricated Antenna

A useful application of this antenna is on the millimeter wave car warning radar, which features high resolution and compact size. The antenna beam-width and coverage angle are approximately 3° and $\pm 8.5^{\circ}$, respectively. In this thesis, we designed an antenna using a W-band waveguide and a dielectric slab (with 0.3mm thickness and 2.55 relative dielectric constant). The structural parameters and configuration are the same as the Ku-Band antenna shown in figure 3. The operation frequency was chosen at 77GHz. The width and height of this leaky waveguide are 2.55mm and 1.25mm, respectively, and the slit is 0.05mm in width and 24.35mm (6.25 λ) in length. Theoretical results of the variation of the main beam radiation angle versus the shift distance of the dielectric slab were shown in figure 41. The two samples have two different substrate thicknesses, which are 0.22 mm and 0.3 mm, respectively. The main beam radiation angles scanned from 39.9° to 55.6° (15.7° angle scan) in the 0.22mm case, and scanned from 34.2° to 54.9° (20.7° angle scan) in the 0.3mm case. This confirms the rule that the factor $\varepsilon_s t$ is closely related to the antenna scan angle. To further inspect the steering of the beam pattern, the antenna radiation patterns were calculated based on the second case. Figure 42 demonstrated the radiation patterns with five shift distances, *0mm*, 0.3mm, 0.6mm, 0.9mm and 1.125mm, respectively. The antenna main beam scans from 34.2° to 54.9° , which meets the prescribed requirement of $\pm 8.5^{\circ}$ coverage angle. The beam width did not meet the specification of 3° . However, although not shown here, we resolved this problem by increasing the slit length of antenna to 150 mm. as shown in figure 43.

Notably, the spurious radiation may occur due to slot-mode propagation in this type of leaky wave antenna [41] without dielectric slab. The cutoff frequency of the slot mode could extend to low frequency. Moreover, it cannot be suppressed by tapering the slit at both ends. In fact, the excitation of slot mode had insignificant influence on our measured results, since the operating frequency chosen here (15GHz) was far away from the cutoff frequency and

those data were measured at far-field rather than near-field.









Figure 42. Antenna radiation patterns obtained from modal transmission line method, operating at 77 *GHz*, which has 6.25λ (24.35 *mm*) as slit length, the relative dielectric constant and thickness (*mm*) of the dielectric slab are 2.55 and 0.3 respectively, the shift distances are 0, 0.3, 0.6, 0.9, and 1.125*mm*. The corresponding maximum radiation angles are at 34.2, 34.2, 39.6, 49.5 and 54.9 degrees, respectively.



Figure 43. Theoretical radiation patterns of a leak-wave antenna, operating at 77*GHz*, the relative dielectric constant and thickness (*mm*) of the dielectric slab are 2.55 and 0.3 respectively, the shift distances are 0, 0.3, 0.6, 0.9, and 1.125*mm*. The corresponding maximum radiation angles are at 34.2, 34.4, 39.9, 49.3, and 55.3 degrees.

Chapter 5 Concluding Remarks

In this thesis, we have demonstrated theoretically and experimentally the feasibility of adding the beam steering capability to a slitted leaky-wave antenna using a moveable dielectric slab inside the waveguide. Several examples with different dielectric constant and thickness of substrate are employed to examine the performance of this antenna. As a rule of thumb, the larger the factor ($\varepsilon_s t$), the larger the propagation constant deviates from its unperturbed value. That means the antenna will experience a large beam-steering angle in a small shift distance. Consequently, precise control of the shift distance is required in the real application. The characteristics of low-cost, robustness and reliability of this antenna show the promising applications such as point-to-point wireless communication and car collision avoidance radar systems. In addition, since the mechanism is frequency independent, it can be applied in any frequency band without any difficulty. Excellent agreements of the radiation pattern between the measured and numerical results confirm the validity of this design.



Appendix I

It is desired to show that the voltage and current wave of tangential components of electric and magnetic fields satisfy the transmission line equations. Assume TE to x

Mode, then there exist a vector potential $\underline{F} = \underline{x_0}\psi(x, y, z)$ such that $\underline{E} = -\nabla \times \underline{F}$, where $\underline{x_0}$ is the unit vector along x axis.

$$\underline{\underline{F}} = -\nabla \times \underline{\underline{F}} = -\left(\underline{x_0}\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \underline{y_0}\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \underline{z_0}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right) \times \underline{x_0}\psi(x, y, z)$$
$$= \underline{z_0}\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial y} - \underline{y_0}\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial z}$$
(I.1)

The above equation is equivalent to

$$E_{x} = 0; \qquad E_{y} = -\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial z}; \qquad E_{z} = \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial y}$$
(I.2)
$$\nabla \times \underline{E} = -j\omega\mu_{0}\underline{H} = \left(x_{0}\frac{\partial}{\partial z} + y_{0}\frac{\partial}{\partial z} + z_{0}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right) \times \left(y_{0}E_{y} + z_{0}E_{z}\right)$$

$$= \frac{z_0}{2} \frac{\partial E_y}{\partial x} - \frac{y_0}{\partial x} \frac{\partial E_z}{\partial x} + \frac{x_0}{2} \frac{\partial E_z}{\partial y} - \frac{x_0}{2} \frac{\partial E_y}{\partial z}$$
(I.3)

$$-j\omega\mu_0 H_x = \frac{\partial E_z}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial E_y}{\partial z}$$
(I.4)

$$-j\omega\mu_0 H_y = -\frac{\partial E_z}{\partial x}$$
(I.5)

$$-j\omega\mu_0 H_z = \frac{\partial E_y}{\partial x}$$
(I.6)

that gives

$$H_{x} = \frac{-1}{j\omega\mu_{0}} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}\psi}{\partial y^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2}\psi}{\partial z^{2}} \right)$$
(I.7)

$$H_{y} = \frac{-1}{j\omega\mu_{0}} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}\psi}{\partial x \partial y} \right)$$
(I.8)

$$H_{z} = \frac{+1}{j\omega\mu_{0}} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}\psi}{\partial x \partial z} \right)$$
(I.9)

 $\psi(x, y, z)$ must satisfy the Helmholtz equation and the boundary condition of the waveguide.

Assuming

$$\psi(x, y, z) = e^{-j\kappa z} A(x)B(y)$$
(I.10)

Since

$$E_{z} = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y} = e^{-j\kappa z} A(x) \frac{\partial B(y)}{\partial y}$$
(I.11)

and the boundary condition requires

$$E_z(x, y = 0, z) = 0;$$
 $E_z(x, y = b, z) = 0$ (I.12)

which gives

$$\left. \frac{\partial B(y)}{\partial y} \right|_{y=0} = 0$$
 (I.13)

and

$$\frac{\partial B(y)}{\partial y}\Big|_{y=b} = 0$$
 (I.14)

So,

$$B(y) = \cos\frac{n\pi y}{b} \tag{I.15}$$

and

$$\psi(x, y, z) = e^{-j\kappa z} A(x) \cos \frac{n\pi y}{b}$$
(I.16)

Then we have

$$E_x = 0 \tag{I.17}$$

$$E_{y} = +jk_{z}A(x)\left(\cos\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right)e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.18)

$$E_{z} = \frac{-n\pi}{b} A(x) \left(\sin \frac{n\pi y}{b} \right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.19)

$$H_{x} = \frac{+1}{j\omega\mu_{0}} \left[\left(\frac{n\pi}{b}\right)^{2} + k_{z}^{2} \right] A\left(x\right) \left(\cos\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.20)

$$H_{y} = \frac{-1}{j\omega\mu_{0}} \left(\frac{n\pi}{b}\right) \frac{dA(x)}{dx} \left(\sin\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.21)

$$H_{z} = \frac{-jk_{z}}{j\omega\mu_{0}} \frac{dA(x)}{dx} \left(\cos\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.22)

Let

$$v(x) = jk_z A(x) \tag{I.23}$$

and

$$i(x) = \frac{j}{\omega\mu_0} \frac{d\nu(x)}{dx}$$
(I.24)

or

$$\frac{d\nu(x)}{dx} = -jk_x Z_x i(x) \tag{I.25}$$

Where

$$Z_x = \frac{\omega\mu_0}{k_x} \tag{I.26}$$

Then

$$E_x = 0 \tag{I.27}$$

$$E_{y} = \nu \left(x \right) \left(\cos \frac{n \pi y}{b} \right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.28)

$$E_{z} = \frac{-jn\pi}{b} \frac{1}{k_{z}} \nu(x) \left(\sin\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.29)

$$H_{x} = \frac{-1}{j\omega\mu_{0}k_{z}} \left[\left(\frac{n\pi}{b}\right)^{2} + k_{z}^{2} \right] v(x) \left(\cos\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.30)

$$H_{y} = +j\left(\frac{n\pi}{b}\right)\frac{1}{k_{z}}i(x)\left(\sin\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right)e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.31)

$$H_{z} = i(x) \left(\cos \frac{n\pi y}{b} \right) e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.32)

Similarly

$$\nabla \times \underline{H} = j\omega\varepsilon_0 \underline{E} \tag{I.33}$$

$$\nabla \times \underline{H} = -j\omega\varepsilon_0 \underline{E} = \left(\underline{x_0}\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \underline{y_0}\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \underline{z_0}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right) \times \left(\underline{x_0}H_y + \underline{y_0}H_y + \underline{z_0}H_z\right)$$

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial x}H_z + \frac{\partial}{\partial z}H_x = j\omega\varepsilon_0 E_y \tag{I.35}$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}H_{y} - \frac{\partial}{\partial y}H_{x} = j\omega\varepsilon_{0}E_{z}$$
(I.A36)

Choose the first equation, we have

$$-\frac{di(x)}{dx}\left(\cos\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right)e^{-j\kappa z} + \frac{jk_z}{\omega\mu_0k_z}\left[\left(\frac{n\pi}{b}\right)^2 + k_z^2\right]v(x)\left(\cos\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right)e^{-j\kappa z} = i\omega\varepsilon_0v(x)\left(\cos\frac{n\pi y}{b}\right)e^{-j\kappa z}$$
(I.37)

Also, knowing that

$$\left[\left(\frac{n\pi}{b}\right)^2 + k_z^2\right] = \omega^2 \mu_0 \varepsilon_0 - k_x^2$$
(I.38)

Then we have

$$\frac{di(x)}{dx} = -jk_x Y_x v(x) \tag{I.39}$$

and

$$Y_x = \frac{1}{Z_x} \tag{I.40}$$



References

- 1. J. C. Liberti, JR., T. S. Rappaport, Smart Antennas for Wireless Communications: IS-95 and Third Generation CDMA Applications, Prentice Hall, New Jersy, 1999.
- 2. The Radiation Laboratory Series, MIT Radiation laboratory, McGraw-Hill, 1946-1950.
- M., V.A., L.S. Sadovnik, "Monolithic electronically controlled millimeter-wave beam-steering antenna" Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems, 1998. Digest of Papers. 1998 Topical Meeting on , 1998 Page(s): 215 –217
- A. D. Brown, L. C. Kempel and J. L. Volakis, "Design method for antenna arrays employing ferrite printed transmission line phase shifters," *IEE Proceedings Microwaves, Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 149, pp. 33-40, Feb. 2002.
- M. F. Iskander, Z. Zhang, Z. Yun, R. Isom, M. Hawkins, R. Emrick, B. Bosco, J. Synowczynski and B. Gersten, "New phase shifters and phased antenna array designs based on ferroelectric materials and CTS technologies" *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microwave Symp. Dig.*, vol. 1, pp. 259-262, 2001
- 6. P. T. Teo, K. A.Jose, Y. B. Gan and V.K. Varadan, "Beam scanning of array using ferroelectric phase shifters," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 36, pp. 1624-1626, Sept. 2000.
- R. R. Romanofsky and A. H.Qureshi, "A model for ferroelectric phase shifters," *IEEE Trans. on Magnetics*, vol. 36, pp. 3491-3494, Sept 2000.
- M.F. Iskander, Z. Yun, Z. Zhang, R. Jensen and S. Redd, "Design of a low-cost 2-D beam-steering antenna using ferroelectric material and CTS technology," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 49, pp. 1000-1003, May 2001.
- K. Sakakibara, Y. Kimura, J. Hirokawa, M. Ando, and N. Goto, "A Two-Beam Slotted Leaky Waveguide Array for Mobile Reception of Dual Polarization DBS," *IEEE Trans. On Vehicular Technology*, vol.48, No.1, pp.1-7, 1999.
- A. Kuramoto, T. Yamane, and N. Ando, "Mechanically steered tracking antenna for land mobile satellite communications," *IEEE Int. Symp. Antennas and Propagat. Soc.*, pp. 1314–1317,1988.
- T. Y. Yun and K. Chang, "A low-loss time-delay phase shifter controlled by piezoelectric transducer to perturb microstrip line," *IEEE Microwave and Guided Wave Lett.*, vol. 10, pp. 96-98, March 2000.

- T. Y. Yun and K. Chang, "Analysis and optimization of a phase shifter controlled by a piezoelectric transducer," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 50, pp. 105-111, Jan. 2002.
- T. Y Yun and K. Chang, "A low-cost 8 to 26.5 GHz phased array antenna using a piezoelectric transducer controlled phase shifter," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 49, pp. 1290-1298, Sept. 2001.
- C. T. Rodenbeck, M. Y. Li and K. Chang, "A novel millimeter-wave beam-steering technique using a dielectric-image-line-fed grating film," *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microwave Symp. Dig.*, vol. 1, pp. 267-270, 2001.
- 15. M. Y. Li and K. Chang, "Novel low-cost beam-steering techniques using microstrip patch antenna arrays fed by dielectric image lines," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 47, pp. 453-457, March 1999.
- M. Y. Li and K. Chang, "Novel beam-control techniques using dielectric-image-line-fed microstrip patch-antenna arrays for millimeter-wave applications," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 46, pp. 1930-1935, Nov. 1998.
- M. Y. Li and K. Chang, "New tunable phase shifters using perturbed dielectric image lines," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 46, pp. 1520-1523, Oct. 1998.
- L. Hung, J. C. Chiao and M. P. De Lisio, "An Electronically Switchable Leaky Wave Antenna," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 48, No. 11, pp. 1769-1772, November 2000.
- 19. C. W. Back, S. Song, C. Cheon, Y. K. Kim and Y. Kwon, "2-D mechanical beam steering antenna fabricated using MEMS technology," *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microwave Symp. Dig.*, vol. 1, pp. 211-214,2001.
- N. S. Barker and G. M. Rebeiz, "Optimization of distributed MEMS transmission-line phase shifters-U-band and W-band designs," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 48, pp. 1957-1966, Nov. 2000.
- B. Elamaran, I. M. Chio, L. Y. Chen and J. C. Chiao ,"A beam-steerer using reconfigurable PBG ground plane," *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microwave Symp. Dig.*, pp. 835-838, 2000.
- 22. R. B. Hwang, Y. J. Chang and M. I. Lai, "A Low-Cost Electrical Beam Tilting Base

Station Antennas for Wireless Communication System," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 52, pp.115-121, January 2004.

- V. A. Manasson, L. S. Sadovnik, V. A. Yepishin and D. Marker, "An optically controlled MMW Beam-steering Antenna Based on a Novel Architecture," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 45, pp. 1497-1500, August 1997.
- 24. W. W. Hansen, "Radiating electromagnetic waveguide," U.S. Patent No. 2,402,622.
- 25. R. E. Collin, F. J. Zucker, L. G. Hanscom Field, Chapter 20, <u>Antenna Theory</u>, McGraw-Hill, 1969.
- 26. L. O. Goldstone and A. A. Oliner, "Leaky-Wave Antennas I: Rectangular Waveguides," *IRE Transactions on Antennas and Propagations*, October, pp. 307-319, 1959.
- N. Marcuvitz, Waveguide Handbook, MIT Radiation Lab. Ser. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1951, vol. 10.
- P. Lampariello, F. Frezza, H. Shigesawa, M. Tsuji and A. A. Oliner, "A Versatile Leaky-Wave Antenna Based on Stub-Loaded Rectangular Waveguide: part 1-Theory," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 46, pp. 1032-1041, July. 1998.
- F. Frezza, P. Lampariello, H. Shigesawa, M. Tsuji and A. A. Oliner, "A Versatile Leaky-Wave Antenna Based on Stub-Loaded Rectangular Waveguide: part II-Effects of Flanges and Finite Stub Length," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 46, pp. 1042-1046, July. 1998.
- M. Tsuji, H. Shigesawa, F. Frezza, P. Lampariello, and A. A. Oliner, "A Versatile Leaky-Wave Antenna Based on Stub-Loaded Rectangular Waveguide: part III-Comparisons with Measurements," *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 46, pp. 1047-1055, July. 1998.
- T. N. Trinh, R. Mittra, and R. J. Paleta, "Horn image-guide leaky-wave antenna," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 29, pp. 1310-1314, Dec. 1981.
- 32. J. Hirokawa, M. Ando, N. Goto, N. Takahashi, T. Ojima, and M. Uematsu, "A single-Layer Slotted Leaky Waveguide Array Anttena for Mobile Reception of Direct Broadcast from Satellite," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 44, pp. 749-755, Jan. 1995.
- 33. K. Sakakibara, Y. Kimura, M. Ando, and N. Goto, "A Two-Beam Slotted Leaky Waveguide Array for Mobile Recetion of Dual-Polarization DBS," *IEEE Trans. Veh.*

Technol., vol. 48, pp. 1-7, Jan. 1999.

- 34. J. Hirokawa, M. Ando, N. Goto, "Waveguide-Fed Parallel Plate Slot Array Antenna" *IEEE Trans. Antennas and Propagat.*, vol. 40, pp. 218-223, Feb. 1992.
- 35. K. Sudo, A. Akiyama, J. Hrokawa, and M. Ando, "A Millimeter-Wave Radial line Slot Antenna Fed by a Rectangular Waveguide through a Ring Slot," *IEICE trans. Communication*, Vol.E84-C, No.10, pp.1521-1527, Oct. 2001.
- 36. R. E. Collin, Francis J. Zucker, Antenna Theory part 2, McGraw Hill, New York, 1969.
- 37. C. A. Balanis, Antenna Theory: analysis and design, New York: Harper and Row, 1982.
- R. F. Harrington, <u>Time-Harmonic Electromagnetic Fields</u>, pp. 317-330, McGraw-Hill, 1993.
- A. D. Berk, "Variational Principles for Electromagnetic Resonators and Waveguides," *IRE Trans.*, vol. AP-4, no. 2, pp.104-111, April 1956.
- 40. T. Macnamara, Handbook of Antennas for EMC, Artech House, Inc., Boston, 1995.
- 41. P. J. B. Clarricoats, and et al, "Slot-mode propagation in rectangular waveguide," Electronics Letters, 2, 8, p.307, Aug., 1966.

博士候選人資料

- 姓 名 : 蕭承麒
- 性別:男
- 出生年月日 : 民國 42 年 2 月 15 日
- 籍 貫 : 桃園縣龍潭鄉三林村民族路 251 巷 3 弄 12 號
- 學 歷 :國立交通大學電信工程系畢業(60年9月~64年9月) 密西根大學電機工程研究所畢業(69年9月~71年5月) 國立交通大學電子研究所博士班(84年9月~94年7月)

ALLER,

經 歷 : 中山科學研究院研究助理 (64 年 10 月 ~ 71 年 5 月)
 中山科學研究院助理研究員 (71 年 5 月 ~ 81 年 5 月)

論文題目 : 波柱可掃描之波導漏波天線設計-理論分析與天線製作量 測

中山科學研究院副研究員(81年5月~93年12月)

Publication List

(A) Journal paper

- Cherng-Chyi Hsiao, Ruey Bing Hwang, "A Beam Adjustable Leaky-Wave Antenna Using a Moveable Dielectric Slab inside a Waveguide," Accepted IEICE Transactions on Electronics, Special Issue,: Wireless Technologies and Computational Electromagnetics.
- (B) Letters
- C. C. Hsiao, B. H. Wang, and W. I. Way, "Multiple Access in the Presence of Optical-Beat and Co-Channel Interference Using Walsh-Code-Based Synchronized CDMA Technique," *IEEE Photon. Technol. Lett.*, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 1173-1175, Aug. 1997.
- B. H. Wang, C. C. Hsiao, and W. I. Way, "Suppression of Optical Beat Interference Using Synchronized CDMA Technique and In-Band Clipping Carrier," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 33, no. 32, pp. 1888-1890, Oct. 1997.
- Pi-Yang Chiang, Cherng-Chyi Hsiao, and Winston I. Way, "Using Precoding Technique to Reduce the BER Penaltyof an M-QAM Channel in Hybrid AM-VSB/M-QAM Subcarrier Multiplexed Lightwave Systems," *IEEE Photon. Technol. Lett.*, vol.10, no. 8, pp. 1177-1179, Aug. 1998.
- (C) Conference papers

1.

C. C. Hsiao, B. H. Wang, and W. I. Way, "Suppression of optical beat interference (OBI) using synchronized code-division-multiple-access (S-CDMA) technique and in-band clipping carrier," *IEEE Lasers and Electro-Optics Society LEOS'97*, paper WC2, San Francisco, Nov. 1997.